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KILKEE AND ITS ENVIRONS
Where Past And Future Meet 
KILKEE, most modern of Irish seaside resorts, is a centre from which can be studied a great deal of the past history of the country, including its ancient dwellings, rites, scenes,   battles   and   folklore.    It   is   particularly rich   in  distinctive archaeological remains and some of its rarer features have been described in scientific European journals.
The promontory forts of the west of Ireland have been appreciated and described in a few instances, and while the walled headlands of Doonbeg and other places on the Clare coast have attracted many visitors and writers, they have re​mained practically undescribed. The fact of all the earthworks being easily accessible from Kilkee should have secured their study. It seems to be the rule that the better a place is known to pleasure seekers, the less are its early remains described.
Kilkee is probably the most popular of the Irish seaside towns. It stands face to face with the Atlantic in all its tempestuous loveliness of terror, its days of gorgeous light and atmosphere, the gloom and spray of its storms and its solemn sunsets. At Kilkee one is never free from the haunt​ing presence of the sea, whose waters, now dark indigo beneath the heavy clouds, now grey and corpse-like, now of emerald and blue—worry the dark cliffs in the silver dust of endless battle.  .
Thousands of visitors resort to the strand and rocks, numbers of whom are interested in antiquities, but all have passed by the forts. Many, doubtless, have noticed the mounds and trench across some gull-haunted headland or the furze-clad liss—its entrenchments, a ring of golden iris, or a wreath of loosestrife, meadow​sweet and ragwort, flowers dear to the reputed fairy occupants—but for over a century those forts have remained, all save one, undescribed.
THE  FORTS
The Clare promontory forts have many features of interest; they show even more able adaption of natural features, and, with hardly an excep​tion, possess Irish names, and, at times, legend and folklore.
The Clare coast is rich in local names, presenting a vivid panorama in word-pictures. Nearly all the varieties of headland, shore and rock are represented. Rinn, a point, gave an ancient name to Rinn Boirne, now Black Head, and the names Rinroe and Rinbaun, the red and white points. Aill, a cliff, naturaliy occurs at the perpendicular Cliffs of Moher; Goug, a cleft, and Gouglahn at the low rocks near Freagh; Can, a head, at Cancregga and Cancally, the old Irish name of Hag's Head. The Rush, or long headland, is found at Moher, Mothaiririush and Caher-rush; the "shin-bone like" projection at Lurga; the stack at Stookeen; the spit at the Biraghtas: while the great  obstruction that breaks the waves on Kilkee is Duggerna, i.e., Docharna

PICTURESQUE NAMES 
Picturesque names attach to the great chasms such as Iffrinbeg, or Little Hell, and Poulbrista, the broken hole. Drehid, or bridge, represents the natural arches; Poulatedaun and Poulnagun, the gusts of wind and boom of the waves at the puffing holes.
So the breeze is heard in the names Poulnageehy, Culliaghgeeha and Geehyboy; while the churning, high-leaping spray has originated the names of Cream Point, Rossalia and Cahersaul. The startling and powerful phenomena are not, how​ever, the only name factors, for the gentle springs, covered at high tide like Tobernahallia, well of the salt; the clear green pools like Poulgorm; the grinding stones like Broanty and Coosinabroin, cover of the quern, are all to be found.
The sandy reaches give such names as Dough—Dumhach, sand-dune—at Lahinch and Kilkee; Knocknaganiff and Baurtraw; the White Strand and Fintramore are there, and Ariel's yellow sands are not without their equivalent at Trawee. The weedy rocks with their fringes and draperies of green, purple and brown are appropriately named Lackglass and Carrickadilllsk, and the crooked little streams and their forks, Gowleen, Crompaun and Cashla.
SUNKEN   CITY
The human element has put its mark on the names and legends of the reef and sunken city of Kilstapheen, the Hag's Head, and Malbay, Bishop's Island, Cuchillin's Leap, Dermot and Grania's Rock and Poulnapiasta. Evidently later are the personal names Poulnagarretytoole, Gougycarmoda, Poulnatoohy, Car-rickedward, Leimconor, Poulataggart (Pool of the Priest), and Carricknagleera, Rock of the Clergy; several probably originated by the drowning of the persons named. The little natural harbours have names like Coolnaluinga, corner of the ships, and Coolabaud, of the boats. Sarcas​tic names occur like Bodawogga, Poulnagalliagh, the old woman, being really a cormorant, and the clear-watered Poulsallagh, dirty, by antiphrasis.
THE  SPANISH   ARMADA
The historical illusions are also interesting. Spanish Point and Templenaspannig recall the great fleet invincible of 1588. Religion claims Tranambannaght, the strand where the fisheries were blessed, and Bar na Cros, where temporary burials took place till the remains could be brought to St. Senan's cemetery. But smuggling seems to have named Poulaneena, the Wine Hole; and war, the two ghastly names Belaclugga, ford mouth of the skulls; that this was no mere fancy was shown in 1822 when a large number of skeletons were found in digging the foundations of the bridge of that name near Miltown Malbay.
As might be expected, birds and animals have given their names to many rocks. The seagull-beaded cliffs are recalled by Illaunawhilla, Lacknaweelaun, Carrownaweelaun, Bird Island and Gull Island. The cormorant appears under its own name at Carrick-na-bryol. The rocks where the seals bask are marked by the names Coolrone, Roanty, Roanshee and Seal Rock; the clefts whence the doves and sparrows flew out, by Poulagollum and Poulnagalloon; even the crabs crawling on the rocks are not overlooked at Lacknapartan, and Crab Island near Bealaghaline. Most of the other animal   names   originate   probably 
from horses falling over the cliffs, unless the "cat" names be from the legendary monster, the Cata, defea​ted by Senan, or possibly by Kat a boat.
Mutton Island, or Iniscaerach, on the other hand, was named from its sheep pastures even in 1215 when Iniskereth was confirmed to the Archbishop of Cashel by the English Government. Finally, the names of forts occur on the coast of Moher, Cahernafureesha, Dooneva, Caher-rush, and the Doons or cliff forts.
LOST TRIBES 
Irrus had a hazy background of memories of lost tribes like the Siol Gangain, the Ua Catbar and Ua Corra—the first finds a place at the Shannon's mouth, even in the geography of Ptolemy, which gives it a pre-Christian, historic footing.
Whether the Martini round Kilrush extended over, there is no certainty, but the whole belonged to the powerful tribe of Corcavaskin. They, like the Corcomruad and Corcaguinty tribes are defined as non Milesian, but Irish ethnology is vague above all other vagueness. However, the tribes of Cairbre Bhaiscoinn occupied the great peninsula from the Fergus to the ocean up to Lahinch and Inagh. In later days the district was part of the bishopric of Iniscatha, and thus alone it has handed down its name to our time in the Royal Deanery of Corcavaskin, which covers the baronies of Moyarta and Clonderlaw and the northern border parishes of Clondegad, Kilchrist and Kilmurry-Ibrickane, the last and ancient Collebovum of 1302. The northern part was planted with the Ui Breacain tribe about 1180; the southern fell under the chiefry of the Muinter Domhnaill and later of the MacMahons, a branch of the O'Briens; they split it into east and west Corcavaskin (Clonderlaw and Moyarta). The O'Briens, Lords of Clare, superseded the chiefs of the latter about 1603, and by their loyalty to James II, lost their goodly heritage in 1688; it was sold to the MacDonnells, Burtons and Westbys in the sales of 1703.
ENTRENCHED  FORTS
It   is   not   believed   that   tribal arrangements    affected    the    construction of the forts which evidently    depended    on    the    previous existence of  suitable    headlands.  
Practically every one of such sites, save Georges Head, from Baltard southward has been entrenched. Probably there were a few others entirely swept away in the historic period. The Sea never rests: it split Inis Fitae (Mutton Island) about 802.    Even in recent years a Mrs. Knott noted the fall of a cliff at Loop Head in  1834,  a  beautiful arch was made in the same cliffs in a few minutes.   The natural arches behind George's Head and Bishop's Island, much of Illaunadoon, and a mass of overhanging rocks near the Amphitheatre have fallen since 1875. Long reefs,  evidently the basis of headlands, but awash at every tide project near     Doondoillroe and Illaunadoon; there can be little if any doubt that Bishop's Island was a   headland   when   its   cells   were built, perhaps in a promontory fort; it was detached before 1655.   .           -
A drive northward from Kilkee over a  rising ground    commands an extensive view.   In the bright grey. estuary of the Shannon lies, clearly visible the   long   low   Island   of Scattery with its round tower and churches, recalling memories of the noble and    austere Senan, the apostle of Corcavaskin in the early sixth century. Over the brow, the view opens   northward   to   Mount Callan. After descending the slopes of  Farrighy a number of earthen forts are seen.   The low earthworks of Lisconnell and Carrowblough call for  little  notice.    Bealaha  Liss  is beside the road, and further northward   is   Doonbeg,   Caherduff   and Cahergall in Glascloon.   About 1550 Edmond Roe,    son of Gilladuff MacSweeney,   of   Kilkee,   conveyed  this place to the Earl of Thomond, Donchadh O'Brien, along with "the rath and quarter of Dunbeg meared by the pool of Geathbuidhe to the south and by Lough Margraige to the north; by the foot of Creeduff at the entrance of Island MacUlga to the east and Cammanafeamny on the west." The Cahirs are evidently the  Caherduff and  Cahermoyle in Upper Glascloon of the 1623 grant. These forts are of the usual type in west Clare, rings about 100 feet inside,. slightly   raised   garths,   inner mounds five to eight feet high, and from their steepness evidently once with stone faces; outside is a fosse four feet to six feet deep, and a low outer  ring.    No difference is  now  apparent  between the  cahers  and raths; all are fairly perfect. Another fort, the Liss of Bealard is passed  by   the   old   bohereen   leading   to Bealaha Bay:   it  is well preserved with  a  ring  seven feet  high  and slight traces of a fosse.
REMAINS   NEAR    KILKEE
Farrihy Head is a picturesque rock, like the head of a crested bird with its back in the waves; outside lie the two long Biraghta— split—Rocks, usually close packed  with seagulls. They had vague legends in 1872 of the loss of two ships the "Balka" and the "Sea Foam." The head has traces of an entrenchment, a levelled mound at 192 feet from the end of the drift cap, and a nearly obliterated fosse with two mounds each 15 feet wide, at 298 feet from the end; both are convex to the land, and, though hardly extending for half the width of the neck they are too massive and unnecessary to be a relic of a late fence.
George's Head, the well known cliff, has a rude but recognisable human face at the end, said to re​semble the profile of George III. It was certainly not named after the "Royal founder of the United States" till long after his decease, for, in 1835 it was "Cream Point" and the bay behind it. now Lackglass was appropriately called the Great Horseshoe.  The Irish names seem  forgotten.
Bishop's Island is a fragment of a headland once, most suitable for
